THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM UNION COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002219

Michael J. Osten and Shawntell L. Osten.....Respondents

v.

Sandra Malikowski.....Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kyle B. Parker
POPE PARKER JENKINS, P.A.
1508 College Street
P.O. Box 190
Newberry, South Carolina 29108
(803) 276-2532 (p)
(803) 276-8684 (f)
kyle@ppjlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

Newberry, South Carolina
August 20, 2026

RECEIVED

Aug 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err in failing to vacate the subject default judgment?
- II. Did the lower court err in failing to set aside the entry of default?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint in this action was filed on March 6, 2024. (R., pp. 26-31). An affidavit of service indicating personal service on the Appellant at “202 Gilbert Street” (sic) on April 29, 2024 was filed on May 9, 2024. (R., p. 32). This address does not exist in Union, South Carolina. Appellant’s proper address is 202 Gibert Street.

The complaint asserts three causes of action: nuisance, negligence and trespass purportedly based on Respondents’ problems with Appellant’s dogs. (R., pp. 26-32).

The case was called for trial on December 16, 2024. According to an order of continuance signed by Judge Grace Knie, the date was set pursuant to Respondents’ request. (R., p. 3). Judge Knie granted Respondents’ request of a continuance based on the unavailability of a witness. The record below contains no indication that Appellant was given any notice of the trial.

On January 6, 2025, Respondents filed their affidavit of default, together with a motion for default judgment and damages. (R., pp. 33-35). A hearing on this motion was set for February 24, 2025. (R., pp. 36-37). The Certificate of Service shows Respondents improperly addressed the notice of this hearing they contend was mailed to Appellant. (R., p. 38). The certificate of service and copy of counsel’s letter filed on January 28, 2025, both are addressed to “202 Gilbert Street”. (R., p. 38).

The damages hearing went forward on February 24, 2025, be for Judge Charles J. McCutchen. (R., pp. 96-113). Appellant was not present. At the damages hearing, Respondents gave testimony contrary to the factual allegations and the measure of damages stated the complaint. They testified that they no longer owned the home next door to Appellant’s. (R., pp. 109-110). Respondents also testified that they were forced to sell

their home because of Appellant's dogs. R., pp. 109-110). They further gave testimony for the notion that they could not sell their home for a particular price and were, again, forced to sell it for less than what they indicated it was worth. R., pp. 109-110). There was further testimony that the Appellant's dogs caused Respondents to purchase a smaller, more expensive home in Spartanburg which required them to take out a "multi-hundred-thousand-dollar mortgage". R., pp. 109-110). None of these assertions are alleged in the complaint as the complaint instead repeatedly alleges Respondents' and Appellant are "next-door-neighbors" and requests damages "to include but not be limited to, disturbing the Plaintiff's (sic) peaceful enjoyment of their home, causing mental anguish and emotional distress, and directly affecting the value of their home". (R., pp. 26-32).

Following the receipt of testimony, Respondents' counsel referenced having provided the Court with a "summary of damages" several times during the hearing and indicated that the asserted damages included Respondents' mortgage on their new home in Spartanburg, their attorney's fees, and moving costs. (R., pp. 111-112). Their complaint makes no allegations or prayers for damages related to these items¹. (R., pp. 26-32). In any event, this "summary of damages" was not entered into the record, nor was the "bunch of paperwork" referenced by Respondents' counsel as having been sent to Judge McCutchen's "admin and law clerk". (R., pp. 100-101, 109-112).

Following the hearing, Judge McCutchen entered a default judgment against Appellant in the total amount of \$280,862.58 by his order filed March 5, 2025. (R., pp. 5-7). This order recites that Respondents mailed notice of the hearing to Appellant at the

¹ Judge McCutchen granted leave for Respondents to amend their pleadings to add court costs to conform to the record; though, it was unclear what pleading was being amended. (R., p. 112). In any case, Appellant asserts in this appeal that the granting of leave to amend to conform to the record was improper in the circumstance of this case to the extent the pleading being amended was the complaint.

same improper address. (R., pp. 5-7). Judge McCutchen later amended his order on March 11, 2025². The order was amended to recite that the Respondents had mailed the notice to Appellant's correct address. (R., pp. 8-10). As noted above, this amendment is contrary to Respondents' Certificate of Service. (R., p. 38).

Neither of Judge McCutchen's orders were served on Appellant. Appellant was unaware of the judgment until May 3, 2025, when she was personally served with the complaint in civil action no. 2025-CP-44-00187, an action wherein Respondents seek the sale of Appellant and her children's home in their effort to collect on the default judgment. (R., p. 44, ¶ 18).

Appellant filed her motion for relief from the default and the default judgment under Rule 60, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure ("SCRCP") was filed on July 16, 2025. (R., pp. 39-47). A hearing on Appellant's motion was held before the Judge Daniel Coble on September 15, 2025. (R., pp. 114-157). Judge Coble denied the motion by Form 4 Order dated September 19, 2025. (R., pp. 11-13). Appellant filed her motion to alter or amend the September 19, 2025 order on September 29, 2025. (R., pp. 80-90).

Judge Coble then entered a more formal order denying Appellant's Motion to Vacate or Set Aside Default Judgment by his order dated October 1, 2025. (R., pp. 14-18). Appellant moved for Judge Coble to alter or amend this order on October 10, 2025. (R., pp. 91-95). Both of Appellant's motions to alter or amend were denied by Judge Coble without a hearing by his orders dated October 3, 2025 and October 20, 2025, respectively. (R., pp. 19-21; 22-24). The Notice of Appeal of the aforementioned orders of Judge Coble was filed on October 31, 2025.

² The record below does not indicate how the amendment to Judge McCutchen's order came to be as no motion under Rule 59, SCRCP, was filed by Respondents.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is a 27 year old single working mother of two boys ages 5 and 8 months. (R., p. 42, ¶ 2). She and her boys live at 202 Gibert Street, Union, South Carolina. (R., p. 42, ¶ 2). Appellant was born and lived in Poland for the first 8 years of her life. (R., p. 43, ¶ 12). She was then adopted by her parents and moved to the United States. (R., p. 43, ¶ 12). Appellant is able to speak and understand the English language; however, she has considerable trouble reading and comprehending the written language. (R., p. 43, ¶ 12).

Appellant purchased her home on February 24, 2023, and then moved to Union from the State of Kentucky. (R., p. 42, ¶ 3). Almost immediately upon moving in, Appellant began having trouble with her then next door neighbors, the Respondents. (R., p. 42, ¶ 4).

Respondent Michael J. Osten (“Mr. Osten”) was constantly confronting her any time she would step outside of her home. (R., p. 42, ¶ 5). Appellant described how Mr. Osten, who had a number of cameras on his home, was apparently constantly watching her home because he would reference in these confrontations when and where her dogs were let out, when and how long she kept her dogs in her garage, and generally when she came and went from her home. (R., p. 42, ¶ 6).

Shortly after moving in, Mr. Osten began repeatedly calling Animal Control with complaints about Appellant’s dogs being off leash even though the dogs were in her yard. He would also make complaints about her dogs barking and other similar matters. (R., pp. 42-43, ¶ 8). Mr. Osten literally called Animal Control every other day for a period of months beginning in March of 2023. (R., pp. 42-43, ¶ 8). Travis Smith, the Animal Control officer responsible for responding to these calls, testified in his affidavit that he spent hours

outside of Appellant's home, yet never observed anything to substantiate Mr. Osten's complaints. (R., pp. 48-49). He described Mr. Osten's hundreds of complaints as "in very large measure false." (R., p. 50). When Animal Control would not do his bidding, Mr. Osten went so far as to make multiple false reports to DSS alleging child abuse against Appellant related to her dogs. (R., p. 43, ¶ 9).

During this time, Appellant was being served with something resulting from the Respondents' complaints on a regular basis. Respondents also brought a civil proceeding against her in the Union County Magistrate's Court in May of 2023 asking for damages based on the very same allegations asserted in this action; said action being dismissed. (R., p. 43, ¶ 10). This was Appellant's first experience with the civil court system. (R., p. 43, ¶ 13).

Given her difficulty reading and comprehending written English, she did not understand that the summons and complaint served on her in this action required a response. (R., p. 43, ¶ 14).

Appellant had no knowledge of the default judgment rendered in this case until she was served with the summons and complaint in civil action no. 2025-CP-44-00187. (R., p. 44, ¶ 18). Appellant denies receiving a mailing enclosing any notice of the damages hearing preceding the default judgment. (R., p. 43, ¶ 15).

After a conversation with her neighbor, Appellant immediately sought counsel; however, it took her a couple of months to save enough money to pay a retainer to her attorneys. (R., p. 44, ¶ 18).

Appellant now understands that Respondents have again claimed that her dogs barking have somehow caused them damages. (R., p. 44, ¶ 17). Appellant acknowledges

that while they are dogs and do, therefore, bark at times, she denies that her dogs bark incessantly as Respondents assert³.(R., p. 44, ¶ 17). Appellant’s other neighbors have never mentioned a problem with her dogs. (R., p. 44, ¶ 18). In fact, both of her closest neighbors, including the neighbor who purchased Respondents’ former home five months before the damages hearing, categorically deny Respondents’ claims and state that the dogs are no problem at all, describing them as friendly. (R., pp. 46-47; 51-52).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether to grant or deny a motion under Rule 60(b) lies within the sound discretion of the judge. BB & T v. Taylor, 369 S.C. 548, 551, 633 S.E.2d 501, 502–03 (2006). An appellate court’s standard of review, therefore, is limited to determining whether there was an abuse of discretion. Id. An abuse of discretion arises where the judge issuing the order was controlled by an error of law or where the order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support. Id.

However, courts should closely scrutinize default judgments to prevent harsh results and drastic action. *e.g.*, Ex parte Trustgard Insurance Company, 442 S.C. 485, 900 S.E.2d 448 (Ct. App. 2023), *citing*, Renny v. Dobbs House, Inc., 275 S.C. 562, 567, 274 S.E.2d 290, 292 (1981). Large default judgments are of particular concern. Renney, supra. Such scrutiny is required because “it is the policy of the law to favor the trial of cases on the merits” rather than on technicalities. Id.; Micronics, Inc. v. SCDOR, 345 S.C. 506, 548 S.E.2d 223 (Ct. App. 2001). The rules regarding granting relief from default are consequently to be liberally construed to promote justice between the parties and dispose

³ Respondents admit as much in paragraph 7 of their complaint where they state that they tried to prove these claims previously with other agencies and courts but were unable to do so

of the case on its merits. Dixon v. Besco Engineering, Inc., 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636 (Ct. App. 1995).

ARGUMENT

The here concerned default judgment should be vacated for a handful of different specific legally significant reasons, but the same is true generally because it represents a huge miscarriage of justice that the Court must rectify. The irregularities patently appearing in the record are alone reason enough to set it aside. However, the judgement should also be vacated as void, and in any event, the judgment and the entry of default should be set aside because Appellant has made the requisite showing under Rules 55 and 60, SCRCP.

I. The Lower Court Erroneously Refused to Vacate the Default Judgment.

The lower court misapprehended or overlooked the significant irregularities appearing in the record. The lower court's denial of Appellant's motion for relief from the default judgment was based on both errors of law and factual conclusions without evidentiary support. In general, the court below failed to properly scrutinize the default judgment as required in the circumstances attending this case as required by the rule set forth in Renny, supra.

A. The Lower Court Misapprehended That the Record Is Devoid of Evidence that Appellant Received Notice of the Damages Hearing and Therefore the Default Judgment is Void and Should Be Vacated.

The low hanging fruit in this appeal concerns Respondents' inability to show that proper notice of the damages hearing was provided to Appellant as required by Rule 55(b)(2), SCRCP. As noted above, Respondents repeatedly addressed correspondence to Appellant at an address that is not hers and does not exist. Importantly, this is true of the

notice of the damages hearing according to their own Certificate of Service. (R., 38). This defect in and of itself renders the default judgment void under the rules of civil procedure.

Rule 55(b)(2), SCRCF, explicitly provides, “[p]ursuant to Rule 5(a), notice of any trial or hearing on unliquidated damages shall also be given to parties in default by first class mail ***to the last known address of such party*** whether or not such party has appeared in the action.” (emphasis added). “The need to properly serve each party individually does not arise from an arcane or highly technical application of the rules. Rather, ***this requirement serves an essential function***—ensuring that notice is properly received by all entitled to it.” (emphasis added). McCall v. IKON, 363 S.C. 646, 611 S.E.2d 315 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding that a single letter with notice of a default damages hearing addressed jointly to two Appellants was insufficient notice to sustain default judgment). After all, “a default judgment rendered without the required notice is a deprivation of procedural due process and is void.” 47 Am. Jur.2d, *Judgements* § 1179.

Service by mail occurs “when a document is deposited with the U.S. Postal Service ***properly addressed*** with sufficient postage affixed.” (emphasis added). Southbridge Prop., Inc. v. Jones, 292 S.C. 198, 355 S.E.2d 535 (1987). In light of the important consequences arising from the service of notices of hearings under Rule 5, “the courts, quite rightly, have required ***the strictest and most exacting compliance with the rule*** when service is made by mail.” (emphasis added). Timmons v. United States, 194 F.2d 357, 360 (4th Cir. 1952)⁴.

Respondents, being next-door-neighbors to Appellant at the commencement of the proceeding, were fully aware of Appellant’s last known address and the proper spelling of the street where the parties homes are located. Yet, the records below shows Respondents

⁴ “Rule 5(b)(1) is the same as Federal Rule 5(b)”. Rule 5, SCRCF, comment on section 5(b)(1).

mailed of the notice of the damages hearing to Appellant at an address that is not hers, nor does it exist within the City of Union. (R., p. 38). Appellant, for her part, denies receiving the purported notice of the virtual damages hearing in this case. (R., p. 43, ¶ 15).

Judge Coble, in his October 1, 2025, order denying Appellant’s motion for relief from the default judgment, devoted an entire page of his four page order addressing “irregularities regarding the incorrect address”, but nevertheless found that Appellant received notice of the damages hearing despite the fact that Appellant denied receiving it and Respondents admitted that notice of the hearing was incorrectly addressed. (R., p. 16-17; R., p. 139). Respondents’ counsel stated “And of course, *we would stipulate to the confusion specific to Gilbert Street*, G-i-l-b-e-r-t, versus Gibert Street, G-i-b-e-r-t, your Honor. Gibert Street is where the [Appellant] resides. *Gilbert Street is not a correct address.*” (R., p. 139). This stipulation on the record is fatal to the validity of the default judgment in these circumstances.

The only “evidence” cited by Judge Coble to support this erroneous finding was a purported copy of a certified mail receipt attached to Respondents’ memorandum in opposition to Appellant’s motion relating to the mailing of notice of a prior hearing in the case which was also incorrectly addressed but was, according to Judge Coble’s October 1, 2025 order, “clearly signed for by the [Appellant].” (R., p. 16-17). This finding was itself error because there was no evidence submitted by Respondents to support that 1) the copy of the certified mail receipt was authentic; or 2) that the signature appearing on the receipt was that of Appellant.

It is well established that counsel's statements regarding the facts of a case and counsel's arguments are not admissible necessary to support a finding of the court. *e.g.*, Ex

parte Morris, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649 (2006); Landry v. Landry, 430 S.C. 153, 843 S.E.2d 491 (2020); McManus v. Bank of Greenwood, 171 S.C. 84, 171 S.E.473 (1933) (noting that courts repeatedly have held “that statements of fact appearing only in arguments of counsel *will not be considered*”) (emphasis added). In fact, Respondents submitted no evidence of any kind at the September 15, 2025 hearing before Judge Coble. Respondents had every opportunity to properly enter these things in the record by way of affidavit or otherwise. They failed to do so. Had they attempted to do so, Appellant would have had the right to submit her own evidence on the question. For the lower court to base a finding on statements of counsel and an exhibit to a memorandum is, therefore, fundamentally unfair and constitutes reversible error in and of itself. See, Ex parte Morris, *supra*; Landry, *supra* (holding that a court may not base “necessary findings of fact” solely on statements or arguments of counsel).

What is more, even if the receipt and what counsel asserts to be Appellant’s signature were properly authenticated by actual evidence, the same could not serve as any kind of evidence to show that Appellant received the admittedly improperly addressed mailing of the notice of the damages hearing nearly a year later. It is impermissible for the lower court to extrapolate as a determinative matter of fact that because the Postal Service delivered one incorrectly addressed mailing, it must have done so with another incorrectly addressed mailing. To do so would be to “assume the infallibility of the U.S. Postal Service, *an illogical assumption* given the volume of letters and packages constantly being processed and the number of human hands any one envelope may pass through.” Green v. Green, 320 S.C. 347, 465 S.E.2d 130 (Ct. App. 1995). There simply is no evidence to

support the lower court's finding or with which to impeach Appellant's testimony to the contrary.

The record, therefore, is devoid of any evidence that Appellant had the required notice of the hearing. A default judgment issued without the required notice constitutes a deprivation of due process of law and is "void and should be set aside". See Dymon, Inc. v. Hyman, 305 S.C. 170, 406 S.E.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1991), *citing with approval*, Wilson v. Moore and Associates, Inc., 564 F.2d 366 (9th Cir. 1977) (holding "[t]he failure to provide 55b(b)(2) notice, if required, is a serious procedural irregularity that usually justifies setting aside a default judgment or reversing a failure to do so."); Stark Truss Co. v. Superior Constr. Corp., 360 S.C. 503, 602 S.E.2d 99 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding a default judgment is void when the Appellants did not receive notice of the hearing addressing the default judgment).

As a result, the Court should reverse the lower court, vacate the default judgment, and remand the matter for a proper damages hearing so that Appellant may actually participate to ensure the award is one supported by the record and which the law actually allows.

B. The Lower Court Failed to Properly Scrutinize the Record Underlying the Default Judgment Or Otherwise Misapprehended That It Is So Greatly Out of Proportion to the Wrongs Alleged In the Complaint And Must Be Vacated.

A default does mean a plaintiff is relieved of the obligation to prove its claims by admissible evidence. The law is quite the opposite, in fact. Nor does a default mean a plaintiff is entitled to a judgment of whatever size and description as may suit his fancy. Instead, a default judgment for unliquidated damages must be supported by admissible evidence actually entered in the record and may only be in the amount requested in the

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