RECEIVED

Aug 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM UNION COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Daniel Coble

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002219

Michael J. Osten & Shawntell Osten.....Respondents,

vs.

Sandra Malikowski.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Jason M. Hunter
Crawford & von Keller, LLC
Post Office Box 4216
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
Telephone 803-790-2626
ATTORNEYS FOR THE RESPONDENTS

Contents

<u>

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

ARGUMENT

I. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in declining to provide Appellant relief from the subject default judgment?¹

(A) The trial court standard of review under Rule 60(b)

The standard for obtaining relief from a default judgment is governed by *Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure*. Under Rule 60(b), a party may seek relief from a final judgment for specific reasons, including: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence that could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment being void; or (5) the judgment being satisfied, released, or discharged, or where it is no longer equitable for the judgment to have prospective application. (Rouvet v. Rouvet, 388 S.C. 301, 309, 696 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 2010)).

Relief under Rule 60(b) is discretionary and subject to the trial court's determination, which will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is controlled by an error of law or is unsupported by the evidence. (Thompson v. Hammond, 299 S.C. 116, 119-120, 382 S.E.2d 900, 902-903 (1989)), To justify

¹ Appellant has elected to address his Rule 60(b) arguments across two separate sections of his brief. Respondent addresses all such claims within this single section, as the underlying factual and legal issues are sufficiently interrelated that consolidated treatment provides greater analytical clarity and avoids unnecessary repetition.

relief, the movant must demonstrate both excusable neglect and the existence of a meritorious defense. A meritorious defense need not guarantee success but must raise a legitimate issue worthy of judicial inquiry. (*Id.*)

The courts also consider additional factors when evaluating excusable neglect, including: (1) the promptness with which relief is sought, (2) the reasons for the failure to act promptly, (3) the existence of a meritorious defense, and (4) the prejudice to the opposing party. (*Trustgard Ins. Co. v. Full Logistics, Inc.*, 442 S.C. 485, 510, 900 S.E.2d 448, 461 (Ct. App. 2023); *Stearns Bank N.A. v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 341-342, 644 S.E.2d 794, 798-799 (Ct. App. 2007)). These factors reflect the policy balance between ensuring cases are decided on their merits and maintaining the finality of judgments.

It is important to note that the standard for setting aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b) is more stringent than the "good cause" standard for setting aside an entry of default under Rule 55(c), SCRCP. Once a default judgment has been entered, the court requires a more substantial justification to grant relief, emphasizing the finality of judgments. (*Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus.*, 383 S.C. 601, 608, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888-889 (2009); *ITC Commer. Funding, LLC v. Crerar*, 393 S.C. 487, 494, 713 S.E.2d 335, 338-39 (Ct. App. 2011); *Weeks v. Drawdy (In re Estate of Weeks)*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 458-459 (Ct. App. 1997)).

Additionally, the movant bears the burden of presenting evidence to prove the facts essential to justify relief. (*Rouvet v. Rouvet*, 388 S.C. 301, 308, 696 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 2010)).

Addressing Rule 60(b)(4) specifically, a judgment is void if the court lacked either subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction. Subject matter jurisdiction refers to the court's authority to hear and decide cases of the general class to which the proceedings belong. For example, a family court's jurisdiction is limited to matters expressly or implicitly conferred by statute, such as divorce or child custody cases. (*Katzburg v. Katzburg*, 410 S.C. 184, 187-188, 764 S.E.2d 3, 4-5 (Ct. App. 2014)). Personal jurisdiction, on the other hand, is generally obtained through proper service of a summons. (*BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 551, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006)) If a court issues a judgment without jurisdiction over the subject matter or the parties, the judgment is void and unenforceable. (*Katzburg v. Katzburg*, 410 S.C. 184, 187-188, 764 S.E.2d 3, 4-5 (Ct. App. 2014)).

A judgment is also void if the court failed to provide proper due process. Due process requires that a party be given notice and an opportunity to be heard before a judgment affecting

their rights is rendered. A judgment entered without notice to the affected party may be ignored, as courts will not enforce such judgments. (Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney, 349 S.C. 179, 182-184, 561 S.E.2d 659, 660-662) (2002)).

It is important to distinguish between a "void" judgment and a "voidable" judgment. A void judgment arises from a fundamental defect, such as lack of jurisdiction or denial of due process, and is a nullity from the outset. In contrast, a voidable judgment is one rendered in error by a court that had jurisdiction. Voidable judgments are not subject to collateral attack under Rule 60(b)(4) but may be challenged on direct appeal. (Ware v. Ware, 404 S.C. 1 (2013); Thomas & Howard Co. v. T. W. Graham & Co., 318 S.C. 286 (1995); Innovative Waste Mgmt. Inc. v. Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, 423 S.C. 611 (2018)).

Irregularities Not Rendering a Judgment Void: Irregularities or errors that do not involve jurisdiction or due process do not render a judgment void. For instance, legal errors in the judgment itself do not meet the threshold for voidness under Rule 60(b)(4). (See Ware v. Ware, 404 S.C. 1, 11, 743 S.E.2d 817, 822 (2013); See also Thomas & Howard Co. v. T. W. Graham & Co., 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995)). "A judgment will not be vacated for a mere irregularity which does not affect the justice of the case, and of which the party could have availed himself, but did not do so until judgment was rendered against him." (Thomas & Howard Co. v. T. W. Graham & Co., 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995)).

(B) Application to the matter on appeal

i. Appellants' failure to show excusable neglect

In the instant case, Appellant has failed to provide any evidence of excusable neglect. Again, no allegation has been made that service or process was somehow defective in the instant case. Put simply, Appellant was personally served with the relevant initial pleadings on April 29, 2024, and chose not to provide an answer or other responsive pleading. Appellant claims no disability but asserts that, despite having lived in the United States from the age of 8, she has difficulty comprehending written English. (R. p. 32.) This claim seems delusory in light of her participation in Respondents' Motion for a Preliminary Injunction. Despite Defendant's claims to the contrary, the record plainly demonstrates that she is capable of comprehending the written language. Even if her claims of miscomprehension were true, Appellant clearly has the wherewithal to somehow gain understanding from others, as indicated by her present participation. Despite Appellant's attempts to obfuscate this obvious truth, it remains the essential and primary node of analysis in

the instant appeal and was the apparent catalyst for the lower court's decision. None of the distractions propounded by Appellant can be allowed to minimize this central and most important consideration.

Please recall that 253 days had passed between Appellant being served in this matter and Respondents' filing of an Affidavit attesting to her default. 311 days passed between Appellant being served and the entry of final judgment. At no time in that intervening period did Appellant make any filing in the instant case. Please also recall that Appellant was issued notice that mediation had been scheduled and was set to occur but failed to appear or otherwise engage in any settlement talks. Appellant's actions throughout the case indicate total unwillingness or disinterest in engaging with the suit. The trial court properly denied Appellant's Motion, as Defendant offered no satisfactory explanation for her failure to timely answer the Complaint, and the court certainly did not abuse its discretion in doing so.

ii. Regarding Appellant's receipt of notice as to the damages hearing.

As stated above, much of appellant's assertions revolve around Respondents' counsel's scrivener's error in adding an extraneous 'l' to correspondence forwarded to the Appellant, rendering "Gilbert" Street versus "Gibert" Street. One could say that Appellant's entire case rests upon a single lowercase 'l'. This position is entirely untenable. First, Appellant has put forth no evidence whatsoever that she did in fact not receive all notices and other correspondence issued from the office of Respondents' counsel. All available evidence heavily indicates that said mailings were delivered to the intended recipient, and that the intended recipient and that said recipient was simply indifferent as to what had been sent. Plaintiff's counsel has produced a certified mail return receipt addressed to "Gilbert" Street which was very plainly signed by the Appellant. (R. pp. 68-79.) Separately, a notice of mediation dated July 29, 2024, issued to Appellant in the instant case was in fact addressed to "Gibert" Street. Appellant nonetheless swore to the court that, even a year later, she had never received such a notice. (R. p. 32). Such incoherence suggests either an extreme indifference to the receipt of mailed correspondence or brings about issues of the Appellant's credibility.

The logical conclusion here is of course that, given that South Carolina is home to a well-known town named Gilbert, it is an entirely understandable and common error for correspondents to inadvertently write "Gilbert" Street, an error so predicable that postal workers, as rational actors familiar with the geography, routinely recognize it and deliver all such correspondence to the

correct address. It is an insulting, unbelievable insinuation to suggest otherwise, as postal delivery drivers are familiar with the streets along their routes as well as the names of those who reside along their routes. It is after all a job they perform every day.

As such, the presiding judge in the lower court had ample evidence to make a determination that Appellant had received both Respondents' Motion for Default Judgment and the Notice of Hearing thereof. (R. pp. 34-36). This is the correct decision given the facts of the case. The scrivener's error included in Respondents' counsel's correspondence was so minor and the evidence in favor of its effective delivery so one-sided that Appellant's receipt thereof should be presumed. (See State v. Langston, 275 S.C. 439, 272 S.E.2d 436 (1980); Calder v. Commercial Gas. Co., 182 S.C. 240, 188 S.E. 864 (1936)).

iii. Regarding Appellant's claims that the underlying judgment is void for lack of notice.

Appellant has asserted that judgment in the instant case is void. The Court of Common Pleas undisputedly had personal jurisdiction over Appellant as personal service of the pleadings was made upon her and service of process has not been challenged by Appellant. (R. p. 32). The Court of Common Pleas clearly had subject matter jurisdiction in the instant case, as it is the court of general jurisdiction (S.C. Const. Ann. Art. V, § 11). This leaves only a determination as to due process, which is addressed above regarding Appellant's receipt of the Notice of Hearing as to the damages hearing. On that count, Appellant requested and was afforded a review of due process, in which the lower court rightly found that Appellant was afforded notice and an opportunity to be heard.

As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion on the basis that the underlying judgment is void. The record amply supports the court's determination that Appellant was afforded notice and an opportunity to be heard,

iv. Application of the "Wham" Factors

Even if Appellant had provided sufficient justification for her failure to respond, an analysis under *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros.* and its progeny would similarly yield a denial. (298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501 (Ct. App. 1989)).

Regarding (1) the promptness with which relief was sought— the Motion presently on appeal was not filed until 127 days had passed from the entry of the amended Judgment Order.

This is not a case where the time in which one could have filed a Rule 59(e) motion or even an appeal had just passed. Only after Respondents sought to enforce the judgment and had filed a subsequent action in furtherance of that did Appellant apparently gain the ability to comprehend the meaning of a summons and seek to have judgment in the instant case overturned. (R. pp. 14-18). This is of course all in addition to the lengthy term of notice to Appellant that she was in procedural default in the underlying case. There is ample evidence in the record to support the circuit court's finding against Appellant on this element.

As to (2) the reasons for her failure to act—as stated herein, Appellant gave no convincing reason as to why she chose to participate in Respondents' injunctive Motion but failed to otherwise engage with the instant case. Again, Respondents went through the extraordinary step of attempting to engage in mediation in the instant case despite Appellant's inaction and procedural default, and Appellant failed to act upon that as well.

As to (3) the existence of a meritorious defense—while the bar of establishing a meritorious defense is relatively low, trial judges have broad discretion in determining whether a defense is “worthy of a hearing or judicial inquiry because it raises a question of law deserving of some investigation and discussion or a real controversy as to real facts arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence.” Thompson v. Hammond, 299 S.C. 116, 120, 382 S.E.2d 900, 903 (1989). In the instant case, Appellant's evidence of a defense originated by affidavit, making “blanket denials that are conclusive in nature.” (R. pp. 14-18). There is no indication that the lower court's decision was controlled by an error of law or lacked evidentiary support. (Weeks v. Drawdy (In re Estate of Weeks), 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997)). As such, the lower court's decision should not be disturbed.

As to (4) the prejudice to the opposing party—Granting Appellant's Motion would have also caused substantial prejudice to Respondents, who had already satisfied their fee obligations to original counsel and retained separate enforcement counsel, only to face the prospect of having the underlying judgment disturbed at this late stage.

v. Regarding Appellant's Evidentiary Assertions

As stated herein, Respondent's counsel presented a certified mail receipt signed by Appellant which indicated receipt of Appellant a Notice of Hearing as to Respondents' Motion for a Preliminary Injunction. Again, this was presented to show that the minor scrivener's error in the name of Appellant's street name did not cause misdelivery. Appellant has argued that this return

receipt is somehow inadmissible or perhaps should not have been given any weight. This assertion is made despite Appellant's refusal to either outright deny that the signature on the receipt is hers or accuse Respondents' counsel of forging the document. It should be noted that the document in question had been filed with the court since May 23, 2024, and at no point thereafter was refuted by Appellant. Appellant goes on to cite case law indicating that mere statements of counsel cannot be considered evidence. This is of course true, but it is entirely inapplicable and irrelevant to the facts of the matter on appeal.

Under South Carolina law, an attorney is not required to submit an affidavit attesting to the authenticity of a document, such as a notice of hearing, that he himself prepared, provided that the attorney's representation to the court is sufficient to meet the authentication requirements under Rule 901(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Rule 901(a) states that the requirement of authentication or identification is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims. "The burden to authenticate . . . is not high" and requires only that the proponent "offer[] a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic." (Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) *citing* United States v. Hassan, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)). Respondents' counsel was also the best available person to attest to having received the return receipt, as it was his office that sent the initial correspondence and to which the certified mail receipt was returned.

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